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This is an employment case. The plaintiff physician was an employee of the defendant
plastic surgery clinic. The employer clinic opened a satellite office in a suburb, staffed by the
plaintiff physician. Without the knowledge of the employer clinic, the physician began directing
some of the funds collected from patientsto a separate bank account. The physician aso took other
steps toward opening his own practice, including having insurance forms filled out so that funds
went to his separate bank account rather than to the employer clinic. When the employer clinic
learned of the physician'sactivities, it terminated hisemployment. Thephysician sued theemployer
clinicfor the fees generated by him during his employment, and the dinic counterclaimed for fraud,
breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract. A special master was appointed to determine the
amount of funds both partieshad collected. The partiesfiled cross motionsfor summary judgment.
Thetrial court granted summary judgment in the favor of the physician, finding no fraud or breach
of fiduciary duty, only dissolution of their contractual rdationship. The special master madefurther
findings on the financial issues, and a judgment was entered requiring the employer clinic to pay
damages to the physician. The employer clinic appeals. We reverse the trial court's grant of
summary judgment to the physician. The denial of the employer clinic's motion for summary
judgment is reversed in part asto the physician's breach of the duty of loyalty as an employee and
asto the breach of hisemployment contract, and factual issuesremain asto the physician's status as
an officer or director and his fraudulent intent.

Tenn. R. App. P. 3 Appeal as of Right; Judgment of the Chancery Court Reversed in Part
and Affirmed in Part and Remanded

HoLLy M. KiRrBY, J., delivered the opinion of thecourt, inwhich W. FRANK CRAWFORD, W.S., P.J.,
and DAVID R. FARMER, J., joined.
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OPINION
Paintiff/Appellee Walter G. Efird, M.D. (“Dr. Efird"), a physician specializing in plagic
surgery, joined Defendant/Appellee The Clinic of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery (“the Clinic”)
asashareholderin 1991. Atthistime, hesigned an“Employment Contract” (the® Contract”), which
was the same as the employment agreement signed by the other physicians in the Clinic. The
Contract described Dr. Efird’ s duties as follows:

2. EMPLOYEE'SDUTIESAND EXTENT OF SERVICES

(a) General Duties. In his professional capacity [Dr. Efird] shall have the
general duty to practice the profession for which the corporation is organized and
operated, specifically the practice of medicine and surgery and particularly the
medical specialty area of plastic and reconstructive surgery, including evening and
weekend duty, with respect to such patientsor clientsas contract withthe[Clinic] for
such professional services. . . .

The Contract also limited Dr. Efird’s ability to practice medicine outside of his employment:

(d) Entiretime. . . . [Dr. Efird] shall not engage in any professiona activities
except as an Employee under this Contract, and and [sic] hereby assigns and
transfersto the[Clinic] al right, interestsand ownershipinall existing or future
contracts for professional servicesto be rendered by [Dr. Efird] for duration of
his employment under this Contract. All fees received by [Dr. Efird] in this
connection shal beturned over to the [Clinic] ... ."

Thus, thewritten Contract provided that Dr. Efird would not perform plastic surgery outside his
employment with the Clinic, and that the Clinic would receive all of the fees generated by Dr.
Efird’ s performance of professional medica services while an employee of the Clinic.

The Contract also addressed Dr. Efird’ s compensation:

3. COMPENSATION. For all services rendered by [Dr. Efird] under this
Contract, [Dr. Efird] shall be entitled to compensation, asfollows:

(a) Direct Compensation. During continuation of [Dr. Efird’ g
performanceof dutiesunder thisContract until termination date,
[theClinic] shall pay to[Dr. Efird] basic monthly salary equal to

-2



65% of [Dr. Efird’g “compensation base™* . . . which monthly
salary may be changed annually by memorandum agreement
attached hereto, and al sobonusor bonusesdeterminedfromtime
totimeinthesolediscretion of the[Clinic’ s] Board of Directors,
inaccordancewithitssupplemental compensationplan.. .. The
purpose of such supplemental compensationisto arrive & total
compensation to [Dr. Efird] which approximatesthe reasonable
vaueof hisservices. ...

Therefore, under the Contract, Dr. Efird would receive amonthly salary roughly equal to sixty-
five percent of the collections attributable to his current production, minus his pro ratashare of
expenses, calculated based on the previous year's expenses.

Alsoincludedin Dr. Efird’ s Contract were provisionsregarding the payment of deferred
compensation under somecircumstancesinwhichemployment wasterminated, such asby death,
disability or retirement. Under Section 3(b)(i), if employment were terminated by mutual
consent, upon notice or for “cause,” the Contract stated: “In such event, if requested by [the
Clinic], [Dr. Efird] shall continueto render servicesand shall be paid basic monthly salary until
termination date.” The Contract did not provide for deferred compensation beyond the
termination date upon termination for these reasons

The Contract further addressed termination for cause in a subsequent section:
4. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Employment under this

Contract shall terminate upon the basishereinafter set forthand the* termination
date’ in fact has arrived, asfollows:

(f) Termination for Cause. Employment under this
Contract may be terminated by the [Clinic] for cause, by
furnishing to [Dr. Efird] written notice and the basis for such
termination. “Cause’ includes athough not exclusive, [Dr.
Efird’ g failure to adhere to the terms and conditions of this
Contract, revocation or suspension of [Dr. Efird’ g license to
practicethe profession for which the [Clinic] is organized an[d]
operated in the State, or [Dr. Efird’g filing of a petition of
bankruptcy. Termination upon this basis is referred to as
“Termination for Cause” and the termination date shall be the
date indicated in the written notice.

1Si mplified, Dr. Efird’ s “compensation base” was defined as the net cash collections attributable to Dr. Efird’s
production for the month of computation minus hismonthly pro rata expense all ocation, determined by the expensesfor
thepreviousyear, including his nurses’ salaries, hisautomobile and his pro ratashare of rent for offices, treatment rooms,
and common areas.
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Thus, apart from defining termination for cause, thisprovision of the Contract states only that the
termination date is the date in the written notice.

When Dr. Efird initialy joined the Clinic, the amount of collections he would produce
was unknown, so hereceived adraw. After thefirst year, he was compensated in the same way
astheother physicianswiththe Clinic. The compensation of the Clinic physicians, including Dr.
Efird, was somewhat different from the compensation described in the Contract. The Contract
provided that each physician would pay atrue pro rata share of expenses, presumably meaning
that each physician would pay an equal share of common expenses. In practice, however, the
physicians a the Clinic paid a weighted share of the overhead, with physicians who generated
more revenue paying a greater share of common expenses, based on the assumption that a
physician who produced more revenue would utilize a larger proportion of overhead such as
secretaries, receptionists, collection employees, and the like.

As business for the Clinic grew, it opened satellite offices in addition to the Clinic’'s
central locationin Memphis. The Clinic paid the operating expensesfor these satellitelocations,
and revenue collected for work donein the satellite officeswas sent to the Clinic’ scentral office.

Dr. Efird's practice grew and ultimately, at Dr. Efird’s request, the Clinic opened a
satellitelocation in Callierville, an affluent suburb of Memphis. The Clinic paid for rent and a
computer at the Collierville location, and Dr. Efird used supplies purchased by the Clinic and
employees on the Clinic’s payroll. Dr. Efird was the only Clinic physician who utilized the
Collierville office.

As the revenue produced by Dr. Efird grew, so did his share of the Clinic’s overhead.
During hisfina year of employment with the Clinic, Dr. Efird was the highest revenue producer.
Asaresult, amost half of the revenue he generated went toward the Clinic’ soverhead expenses.
Dr. Efird chafed at paying a disproportionate share of the Clinic’'s expenses, and voiced his
dissatisfaction to at least one other physician at the Clinic.

At some point, Dr. Efird made a definite decision to leave his employment with the
Clinic and open hisown practice. Dr. Efird opened separae bank accounts for the Collierville
office, initially depositing $16,000 of his salary into one of the separate accounts. A portion of
therevenuesfrom thework done at the Colliervillelocation was deposited into the separate bank
accounts. Inaddition, Dr. Efird paid separaedy for extraexpensesfor the Colliervile office, such
as additiona advertising and a receptionist who had previoudy been terminated by the Clinic.

Dr. Efird found a location for his new office; it required some construction, and he
targeted January 1998 for completion of the construction and for him to move to his new
location. Asfurther preparation to open his own practice, in September 1997, Dr. Efird applied
to the Internal Revenue Service for anew federa tax identification number. He then switched
the identification number used by health care providers and health insurance companies to
identify him from the number used by the Clinic to his newly acquired identification number.

-4-



Beginning in January 1998, when Dr. Efird's patients at the Collierville office had insurance
clams, rather than filing the claims electronically per the Clinic's regular practice, he had a
member of his staff print a form, white out or obliterae the Clinic’s name, address and tax
identification number, and replace that information with the name “Collierville Office,” the
Collierville address and Dr. Efird’s new tax identification number. Consequently, when his
patients submitted these formsto their insurance carriers, the insurance company disbursed the
money to Dr. Efird rather than to the Clinic. Dr. Efird began receiving paymentsfor hismedical
servicesfrom patients, health careinsurers, Medicare, and other third party payersand depositing
them in one of the separate bank accounts. Meanwhile, he did not leave the Clinic and moveto
his new location in January 1998, as he had planned.

Although Dr. Efird had voiced to at |east one other Clinic physician his dissatisfaction
a paying a disproportionate share of the Clinic’s overhead and his fedling that he would make
more money if he opened his own practice, he did not disclose that he had made a definite
decision to leave the Clinic. He did not disclose the steps taken in preparation for opening his
own practice, such as opening separae bank accounts, changing his federal tax identification
number, altering health benefit claim forms, and directing insurance payments and revenues to
the separate bank accounts.

In mid-March 1998, the Clinic received a billing statement from one of its insurance
providers, which did not include Dr. Efird’ sname. The Clinic contacted the insurance company
about the mistake, and the insurance company informed the Clinic that Dr. Efird had requested
a change of address for insurance claims and that Dr. Efird had changed his identification
number. This information was given to one of the senior physicians with the Clinic, James
Garnett Murphy, M.D. (“Dr. Murphy”). Concerned, Dr. Murphy confronted Dr. Efird on March
22,1998. Dr. Efird admitted that he had changed hisidentification number and had changed the
mailing address for payments from patients or insurance companies to the address of the
Callierville satellite location. Dr. Efird indicated that he put severa thousand dollars into a
separate account. Dr. Murphy told Dr. Efird to speak with the Clinic’ satorney, telling Dr. Efird
that hisactions appeared to bein violation of the employment agreement and might be construed
as embezzlement or fraud. Dr. Efird told Dr. Murphy that he would speak with the Clinic’'s
atorney, but did not do so. The Clinic continued investigating Dr. Efird’s actions and |earned
that Dr. Efird had diverted more money and contacted more insurance providersthan he hadtold
Dr. Murphy. Consequently, the Clinic sent aletter to Dr. Efird dated March 24, 1998 stating that
they wereterminating Dr. Efird’ semployment for cause, effective the next day, March 25, 1998.

On April 2, 1998, Dr. Efird filed a lawsuit againg the Clinic, seeking a temporary
restraining order and an injunction preventing the Clinic from changing any of Dr. Efird’'s
patients insurance claim information, opening any of his mail delivered to the Clinic, or
interfering with his patients' choicein selecting aphysician. Dr. Efird also sought to requirethe
Clinictoreturnto Dr. Efird al of the medical information for Dr. Efird’ spatientsinthe Clinic's
possession and to inform his patients and any other person who inquired of his new location.
Finally, he sought a money judgment for his losses and damages. Along with its Answer, the

-5



Clinic filed a counterclaim againg Dr. Efird, aleging fraud, breach of contract, breach of
fiduciary duty, conversion and defamation, and seekinginjunctiverelief aswell asdamages. The
Clinic aso sought to recover the money Dr. Efird had deposited in his separate bank accounts
under theories of constructive trust, unjust enrichment, and restitution. Dr. Efird later filed an
amended complaint, seeking money damages and aleging breach of contract because he had
aready paid his share of the overhead costs accrued during the time he performed medica
services as an employee of the Clinic, yet had not been paid the fees collected by the Clinic for
those services.

On April 13, 1998, a consent order was filed which assigned to the Clinic the fees
collectedfor Dr. Efird’ sprofessional servicesup to the day hisassociation with the Clinic ended,
and assigned to Dr. Efird any fees collected after that date. The order also stated: “ The issue of
any sums of money, property or damages dueto [Dr. Efird], by [the Clinic], or, conversely, due
to [the Clinic] by [Dr. Efird], isreserved pending the outcome of an accounting.” Later, on May
21, 1998, a consent order was entered designating Owen Johnson of the accounting firm Rhea
& Ivy asthe specia master to conduct the accounting. Meanwhile, the parties took depositions
and conducted other discovery.

In the course of discovery, the Clinic acknowledged that the calculation of the
physicians’ overhead, in order to determine their monthly salary, was not done as set forth in the
Contract. In addition, some of the physicianswith the Clinic were also employed as teachers or
faculty members with the local medical school, and others worked in clinics at local hospitals.
In Dr. Murphy’s deposition, he stated that, prior to Dr. Efird joining the Clinic, there was an
understanding among the Clinic physicians that their salaries as teachers or faculty members
would not go to the Clinic. This agreement also applied to the wages earned at the hospita
clinics.

Discovery was taken from Dr. Efird aswell. In hisdepostion, Dr. Efird testified about
ameeting in approximately March 1997 in which he expressed to the other physicians at the
Clinic his frustration at paying what he viewed as a disproportionate share of the Clinic’'s
overhead. In approximately fall of 1997, Dr. Efird made a definite decision to leave his
employment with the Clinic, and began preparationsfor hismove. In September 1997, heleased
office space which was under construction, due to be completed in January 1998. Targeting
January 1998 as the time he would begin his new practice, he also took steps such as securing a
new tax identification number and filling out health benefit claim formswith his nameinstead
of the Clinic, so that feeswould be paid directly to him instead of the Clinic. Thiswasbased on
Dr. Efird’ sunderstanding that thetypical billing cyclewasapproximately threemonths. Dr. Efird
stated that he consulted hisbrother, William Efird, an atorney,? and wastol d that sincethe Clinic
functioned in someways as an associ ation of individud swho share expenses, thefeesgenerated
by Dr. Efird’s medicd practice belonged to him rather than to the Clinic. Pursuant to his

2AIthough William Efird represents Dr. Efird in this appeal, at the trial court level, Dr. Efird wasrepresented
by Tim Edwards.
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brother’s advice, Dr. Efird began directing fees to himself instead of the Clinic. There were
construction delays with Dr. Efird’ s new office, however, and it was not ready for him to move
into in January 1998, as he had anticipated. While Dr. Efird waited for his new office to be
completed, thefeesfor hismedical servicesthat he had misdirected beganto arrive; he deposited
these fees into a separate bank account. None of these measures were disclosed to the other
physicians with the Clinic. Dr. Efird did not want the other physicians to know that he was
leaving in advance of hisdeparture because”| felt that they would fire meif they found out | was
going to leave.” He believed that, if this happened, it could interrupt his income stream for a
period of months, so he chose not to tell the Clinic of his actions.

Whilethediscovery processcontinued, the special master had beenreviewingtheparties
recordsin an effort to track the monies collected. In November 1999, the special master issued
hisfirst report. In acover letter to thetria court, the specia master noted, “ The purpose of this
report is to determine the following: Amounts collected by [the Clinic] on behalf of [Dr. Efird]
from March 25, 1998 through August 31, 1999. Amounts due [the Clinic], collected by [Dr.
Efird] through August 31, 1999.” To that effect, the speciad master found that, after the
termination of Dr. Efird’ semployment, the Clinic collected $181,577.91 for services performed
by Dr. Efird while employed by the Clinic. The specia master aso found that, while Dr. Efird
was employed by the Clinic, he collected $143,318.66 for services performed during his
employment. The special master found that Dr. Efird had been depositing patient and insurance
company paymentsfor servicesperformed at the Colliervillesatellitelocation primarily intothree
bank accounts.

In May 2001, the Clinic moved for partia summary judgment, seeking judgment on the
issue of Dr. Efird’s liability, with the computation of damages to be referred to the clerk and
master or to the specia master. The Clinic argued that Dr. Efird’ stermination for causeand his
breach of fiduciary duty precluded any claim by Dr. Efird for the feesthe Clinic had collected for
his work after Dr. Efird’s employment was terminated. Further, the Clinic argued that it was
entitled to ajudgment on its claims for breach of contract, and that Dr. Efird should return the
salary and wages paid to him during the period of timein which hewasin breach of hisfiduciary
duty, as well asthe $143,318.66 Dr. Efird collected and failed to turn over to the Clinic. The
Clinic dso argued that Dr. Efird should be required to pay the expense of the specia master, the
Clinic's attorney’ s fees, and punitive damages, since Dr. Efird’ s actions led to those expenses.

In August 2001, Dr. Efird filed a cross motion for summary judgment, arguing that asa
meatter of law he was entitled to al fees collected for medical services he rendered prior to his
termination. Dr. Efird defended himself from the Clinic’ s accusations of fraud, maintaining that
from the time the Callierville satellite office opened, he had sent most, though not all, payments
to the Clinic. Heindicated that the arrangement for the Collierville location was different from
the other satellite officesin that the Clinic did not pay 100% of the expenses of the Collierville
office, and suggested in fact that the Collierville location was a completdy separate operation
from the Clinic. Dr. Efird indicated that the monies not sent to the Clinic merely paid the
overhead expenses that were not paid by the Clinic. Dr. Efird characterized his actions in
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obtaining a new federa tax identification number and atering health claim benefit forms as
having been donein anticipation of departing the Clinic. He termed the diversion of feesto the
separaebank accountsasthe sequestration” of funds, having been donewith theintent that they
remain untouched until their ownership could be determined. He argued that the purpose of his
lawsuit againg the Clinic, filed immediatdy after his termination, was to settle the issue of
ownership of those fees.

Regarding the Clinic's claims of breach of fiduciary duty, Dr. Efird argued that though
he was a shareholder, he was never an officer or director, and that he was not an employee but
rather an independent contractor. He maintained that this precluded any claim of breach of
fiduciary duty.

Having responded to the Clinic’s arguments, Dr. Efird argued that this was a breach of
contract case only. Noting that the Contract contained no forfeiture provison for persons
terminated either for cause or for other reasons Dr. Efird claimed that he was entitled to all fees
for hiswork at the Clinic. Hea so maintained that punitive damageswerenot alowed for breach
of contract. Based onthesearguments, Dr. Efird sought al of the fees collected by the Clinic post
termination under atheory of breach of contract, as well asthe fees he “ sequestered” while till
associated with the Clinic minus the appropriate overhead obligations he accrued during that
period. He also requested sanctionsfor aleged discovery violations and an equitable “ divvying
up” of residua money in the Callierville office' s operational account.

Thetria court rendered an ord ruling and later filed awritten order granting Dr. Efird’s
motion for summary judgment and denying the Clinic’s motion for partial summary judgment.
Thetria court found no disputed material issues of fact “as both parties agree by virtue of their
crossmotionsfor summary judgment.” Thetrid judge first found that the Callierville officewas
an extension of the Clinic, as opposed to a separate operation, but that the money retained by Dr.
Efird went to the Collierville office’ soverhead, and thus to the benefit of the Clinic. Therefore,
the trial court concluded: “[Dr. Efird] committed no acts of fraud, deceit, and/or breach of
fiduciary duties. Thisis asimple breach of contract case.” The trial judge stated in his oral
ruling: “Now they may, based upon their employment formula, have to make some adjustments
in terms of accounting. But there's a world of difference between that kind of accounting
adjustment versusthesefactsrisingto thelevd of fraud, and risingtothelevel of deceit, and they
do not.” The trid court found the fact that the Clinic knew Dr. Efird was operating the
Collierville office to be significant:

Thereisno question that the other members of the [Clinic] knew of Dr.

Efird’ sdesireto go to Collierville and effortsto go to Collierville, when in fact
they were beneficiaries of that. . . .

[T]his Court did handle [the Levitino] case. . . and that was a case of outright
deception, fraud, and concedment. The other partners [in that case] knew
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nothing about those efforts. It is very distinguishable from the case before this
Court today.

Therefore, thetria court held that because the Clinic knew Dr. Efird was seeing patientsin the
Colliervilleoffice, hisdiversion of the Clinic’ sfundswithout the Clinic’ sknowl edge was neither
fraudulent nor a breach of hisfiduciary duties.

The trial court found that Dr. Efird was an employee of the Clinic, as opposed to an
independent contractor. Thetrial court held that whether Dr. Efird’ stermination was* for cause’
or not was"“inggnificant,” reasoning: “Dr. Efird wantsto befreeof them. ... Theallegatiionand
the question really is more one of an accounting. It sreally more of a dissolution at this point.
Someone got asked to leave and that suited them fine . . . and now it's a matter of settling
up....” Inthedternative, thetriad court held that evenif had it not been amutually agreed upon
separation, “the Court does not find . . . it wasfor cause as [the Clinic has| aleged a cause, for
the reasons I’ ve just said about the Collierville operation,” that is, that the funds put in the
separaeaccount wereused for the Collierville office expensesand the Clinic benefitted from this.

Based on the trid court’s conclusion that Dr. Efird committed no fraud, breached no
fiduciary duties, and was not terminated for cause, thetrial court held that all of the fees collected
for servicesperformed at the Calliervillelocation for that |ocation woul d be divided by the specia
master according to the ordinary formulafor division of feesand alocation of expensesthat had
been used during the courseof Dr. Efird’ semployment. Finally, thetria court declined to award
sanctions for discovery abuse againg either party.

In his February 2002 report, the special master totaled the collections made by both
parties of fees generated by the Collierville satellite office, both before and after Dr. Efird's
termination. This total was then divided between Dr. Efird and the Clinic “according to the
production formula utilized by the parties throughout the term of [Dr. Efird’s| employment.”
Post separation collections were reduced by an “average overhead.” Using this method, the
special master determined that the Clinic washolding $140,251 that wasdueto Dr. Efird and that
the Clinic further owed Dr. Efird $23,722 in prgjudgment interest.

The Clinicfiled exceptions and objectionsto the special master’ sreport, arguing that the
specid master should havefound that Dr. Efird wasentitled to receiveno moniesfromthe Clinic
following histermination date becausehe wasterminated for cause. The Clinic arguedthat there
was no basis for awarding Dr. Efird prejudgment interest, and that the specia master’s report
should have recommended that the entire cost of the special master be allocated to Dr. Efird
becauseDr. Efird’ sdiversion of funds made the special master’ s services necessary. TheClinic
also questioned $11,159 in expenses that the specia master found the Clinic owed Dr. Efird,
indicating that this money was for aformer employee of the Clinic who, while working for Dr.
Efird, also drew unemployment compensation ssemming from her discharge by the Clinic.



In response, Dr. Efird asserted that the special master’ s determination of the amount of
money owed to Dr. Efird wastoo low becauseit assessed Clinic overhead againg Dr. Efird for
the time period after his termination. Dr. Efird also argued that the terms of the written
Employment Contract did not control becausethe parties’ course of conduct showed that it was
not followed. Fnally, Dr. Efird argued for sanctions under Rule 11 of the Tennessee Rules of
Civil Procedure and the allocation of the special master’s fee and other fees to the Clinic as
sanctions for its conduct, pursuant to Rules 53 and 54.

On June 17, 2002, the tria court entered its “Fina Order.” Thetria court rgected the
Clinic’s arguments and adopted some, but not al, of Dr. Efird’s arguments. The tria court
adopted the finding of the specid master as the amount owed Dr. Efird, except that it removed
the special master’ sdeduction for the Clinic’ soverhead after thetermination. Thus, it found that
the Clinic was holding $182,278.80 in fees belonging to Dr. Efird. In addition, the tria court
awarded $38,186 in prejudgment interest. Moreover, the trial court allocated to the Clinic the
majority of the fees for the special master, the court reporters, and the accountant hired by Dr.
Efirdfor thelitigation. Thetrial court denied Dr. Efird’ smotion for Rule 11 sanctions. Fromthat
order, aswell asthe order granting summary judgment to Dr. Efird, the Clinic now appeals

The Clinicappeasthetria court’ sfindingsthat therewasno fraud or breach of fiduciary
duty, that whether Dr. Efird was terminated for cause was insignificant, that there were no
genuineissues of materia fact regarding Dr. Efird’ smotion for summary judgment, and that the
Clinic should bear the costs of the specid master. The Clinic also appealstheaward to Dr. Efird
of the fees he diverted, arguing that it was based on erroneous conclusions of law by the tria
court and an incorrect interpretation of the employment contract. Dr. Efird appedls the triad
court’ sdecision to set off hisaward by the costsincurred by the Clinicin collecting hisfeesand
thetria court’s decision not to grant his motion for Rule 11 sanctions.

Summary judgment should be granted when the movant demonstrates that there are no
genuine issues of materia fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law. Tenn. R. Civ. P. 56.04. The movant bearsthe burden of demonstrating the lack of genuine
issues of materid fact. Bain v. Wells, 936 SW.2d 618, 622 (Tenn. 1997). On such amotion,
the court must takethe strongest legitimae view of the evidencein favor of the nonmoving party,
alow al reasonable inferences of that party, and discard all countervailing evidence. 1d.

Summary judgment isnot appropriateunlessboththefactsand theinferencesdrawn from
the facts permit the court to reasonably reach only one conclusion. Carvell v. Bottoms, 900
SW.2d 23, 26 (Tenn. 1995). Thereis no presumption of correctness of atria court’s grant of
summary judgment, as such amotion involvesonly questions of law. Bain, 936 SW.2d at 622.
Therefore, our review of thetria court’s decision to grant summary judgment to Dr. Efird isde
novo. Warren v. Estate of Kirk, 954 SW.2d 722, 723 (Tenn. 1997).

Generally, concurrent findings of fact by the specid master and the trial court are
conclusive and cannot be overturned on appeal. Tenn. Code Ann. § 27-1-113 (2000); State v.

-10-



Wright, 2001 WL 1105383, at *3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Sept. 21, 2001). However, such afindingis
not conclusive when “(1) it is upon an issue not properly referred to a specia master; (2) it is
based upon an error of law; (3) it isupon aquestion of law or mixed fact and law; or (4) it isnot
supported by any materia evidence.” Mid-Am. Apartment Comty’s, L.P. v. Country Walk
Partners, No. W2002-00032-COA-R3-CV, 2002 WL 31895717, at * 3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Dec. 31,
2002) (citing Staggs v. Herff Motor Co., 390 SW.2d 245, 251 (Tenn. (1965)).

Inthiscase, the standard of review applicableto concurrent findings of fact by the specia
master and the trial court applies only to a narrow portion of the findings. The specia master,
an accountant, looked only at the flow of money. In thefirst report, he determined the amount
of collections attributable to Dr. Efird’swork being held by the Clinic and the amount put into
separate bank accounts by Dr. Efird. In the second report, the special master determined what
portion was due to Dr. Efird, based on assumptions from the tria court that Dr. Efird would
receive compensation before and after his termination, based on fees attributeble to him,
calculated according to the formulautilized by the parties during his employment. The specia
master made no factua findings regarding allegations of fraud or breach of fiduciary duty, nor
did he make any determinations on the validity of the employment contract. The specia master
did not examine witnesses or determine their credibility. Therefore, the only findings deemed
“conclusive’ on apped are asto the amounts of fees attributableto Dr. Efird that were collected
by the parties before and after Dr. Efird’ s termination, and the amount of overhead.

At the outset, the tria court found from the undisputed facts that Dr. Efird was an
employee of the Clinic, and not an independent contractor. Dr. Efird does not appeal this
finding, and we find no error in it.

Thetrial court aso found that, becausethe parties had filed cross-motions for summary
judgment, there were no undisputed issues of materia fact. In someinstances, this may be the
case, where partiessimply draw differing conclusionsfrom agreed-upon undisputed facts. Inthis
case, however, the parties clearly contend that different factsare undisputed. In such asituation,
thelosing party may assert on apped that there are genuineissues of materia fact. SeeFranklin
Digtrib. Co. v. Crush Inter. (U.SA)), Inc.,, 726 SW.2d 926, 929 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1986). The
Clinic here contends that Dr. Efird was an officer and director and had the accompanying
fiduciary duty to the Clinic; Dr. Efird contends that he was neither an officer nor adirector. The
Clinic contends that Dr. Efird's actions in directing fees and insurance payments to separae
accounts were done with fraudulent intent; Dr. Efird contends he had no fraudulent intent and
was only “sequestering” these fees.

The tria court found as a matter of law that there was “no fraud, deceit, or breach of
fiduciary duties. What you' vegot isasimple breach of contract case.” In considering the trial
court’ sgrant of summary judgment in favor of Dr. Efird, we examine these conclusons and the
contentions of the parties, in light of the evidence in the record.
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Asnoted above, Dr. Efird did not appeal thetrial court’ sdetermination that, based on the
undisputed facts, Dr. Efird was an employee of the Clinic. There was no agreement restricting
Dr. Efird’ sability to compete with the Clinic upon termination of his employment, so Dr. Efird
was freeto leave the Clinic and establish hisown medical practice, in any location. SeeKnott's
Wholesale Foods, Inc. v. Azbell, No. 01A-01-9510-CH-00459, 1996 WL 697943, at * 3 (Tenn.
Ct. App. Dec. 6, 1996). During hisemployment rel ationship with the Clinic, however, Dr. Efird
had afiduciary duty of loyalty to the Clinic. 1d. An employee* must act solely for the benefit of
the employer in matters within the scope of hisemployment. The employee must not engagein
conduct that is adverseto the employer’ sinterests.” 1d.

Asnoted by thetria court, there was a collective decision by the physiciansat the Clinic
to open asatellitelocation in Collierville, and an understanding that Dr. Efird would practice at
that location. Thiswas no secret. Likewise, Dr. Efird’ s dissatisfaction with the compensation
he recelved from the Clinic, and the method of alocating the overhead among the physicians,
wasaso knowntotheClinic. Atsomepoint, Dr. Efird’ sdissatisfaction led him to decideto end
hisemployment with the Clinic, secure another officein which to open hisown medica practice,
and set up a separate bank account funded initially with the compensation he received from the
Clinic. Hedid not disclosethese stepsto the other physiciansat the Clinic. Theseactionsin and
of themselves were not a breach of the employee's duty of loydty, but rather were “merdy
preparation for postemployment competition.” Knott's, 1996 WL 697943 at *5. Dr. Efird’'s
actions, however, soon went well beyond mere preparation to open his own practice. He soon
began directing fees from patients to the separate bank accounts, changed the identification
number used to obtain insurance payments and had claimsforms atered so that these payments
would go to his separate accounts rather than to the Clinic. Not surprigngly, these actionswere
not disclosed to the Clinic. Without question, these actions were adverse to the Clinic and a
violation of the employee’ sfiduciary duty of loydty.

Dr. Efird seeks to soften the duplicitous nature of his actions by noting that they were
only taken after he made his decision to leave the Clinic, and that once his conduct became
known and he was confronted by Dr. Murphy, he admitted at least some of it to the Clinic.
Smilarly, he euphemidicaly refersto the siphoning off of fees as the “ sequedration” of fees,
done pursuant to misguided lega advice. He explains that insurance paymentswere directed to
the separate bank account because, contrary to his expectation, the construction on hisnew office
was not completed in January 1998 so that he could make hismove. No matter. Dr. Efird “was
attempting to serve two masters, and by so doing he was totally wrong.” Gates, Duncan and
Vancamp Co. v. Levatino, 962 SW.2d 21, 25 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1997). Asamatter of law, his
actions congtitute a breach of the employee’ sfiduciary duty of loyalty.

Dr. Efird argues, and the trial court noted, that some of the monies directed to the
separae bank accounts were used to pay expenses associated with Dr. Efird's practice a the
Clinic'sCoalliervillelocation, such as separate advertising for Dr. Efird and pay for the employee
hired by Dr. Efird who had previoudy been terminated by the Clinic. Indeed, in discovery, the
Clinic indicated that, had Dr. Efird approached them about the additional expenses, they might
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have agreed to pay at least some of them.®> Using atype of “no harm, no foul” reasoning, Dr.
Efird arguesthat the moniesdirected to the separate bank accountswerenot real ly takenfromthe
Clinic. Thiscanonly be characterized as sophistry. The point isthat the monies belongedto the
Clinic, not to Dr. Efird, and how the monies would be utilized was a decision which belonged
to the Clinic, not to Dr. Efird done. Because Dr. Efird secreted these funds to separate bank
accounts, the decision on how to use them was taken from the rightful owner.

Anemployeewho breachesthefiduciary duty of oyalty may be required to disgorge any
profit or benefit he received asaresult of hisdidoyal activities. See | TT Cmty. Dev. Corp. v.
Barton, 457 F.Supp. 224, 230 (M.D. Fla. 1978); Clyde Rudd & Assocs,, Inc. v. Taylor, 225
S.E.2d 602, 682 (N.C. Ct. App. 1976); Restatement (Third) of Agency § 469. In addition, an
employeewho breachesthe duty of loyalty may be required to surrender any compensation paid
by the employer during the period of breach. Baker v. Battershell, 1986 WL 7602, a *6 (Tenn.
Ct. App. July 9, 1986) (citing Red Boiling Water Co. v. McEwen, 3 Tenn. C.C.A. (Higgins) 687
(Tenn. Ct. App. 1913)). Itisnot necessary that the employer suffer alossin order to recoup such
illicit profits or compensation from the employee. Phansalkar v. Anderson Weinroth & Co.,
344 F.3d 184, 200(2d. Cir. 2003); Rossv. Calamia, 13 So. 2d. 916, 917 (Fla. 1943); Faultersack
v. Clintonville Sales Corp., 34 N.W.2d 682, 684 (Wis. 1948); Restatement (Third) of Agency
8469. Therefore, thetria court must determine damagesduethe Clinic under the circumstances
of this case.

The Clinic dleges that Dr. Efird was an officer and director of the Clinic. “It iswell
established that officersand directorsof acorporation oweafiduciary duty to thecorporation and
itsmembers. . . and, whileoccupying such aposition of trust, must act inthe utmost good faith.”
Heffernan v. Heffernan, Ballinger, Pounds and Yarbough, Inc., 1996 WL 512639, a *4
(Tenn. Ct. App. Sept. 11, 1996). In Heffernan, the corporation was an insurance agency, and
Heffernan was its president. Id. a *1. Heffernan became dissatisfied and told the other
shareholders that he would leave in severa months. 1d. Prior to his departure, however,
Heffernan began directing businessto hisnew agency. 1d. at* 2-3. Heffernanfeltat thetimethat
he had effectively ended his relationship with the corporation, and he inssted that the accounts
he directed to his new agency werethosethat he developed prior to joining the corporation. 1d.
Nevertheless, he admitted that he was president of the corporation at the time he was directing
accountsto his new agency, and that he did not tell the other shareholders of hisactions. 1d. at
*2-3. Hispurposewasto ensurethat future commissionswould go to hisnew agency rather than
to the corporation. 1d. a *3-5. After hearing tesimony, a special master concluded that
Heffernan had not breached hisfiduciary duty to the corporation, becausethe other shareholders
knew that Heffernan was dissatisfied and that he was going to leave. 1d. a *3. The master’s
report was affirmed by thetria court. 1d. at *1. Theappellae court held that the findings of the
specia master werenot conclusive on appeal becausethey involved mixed questions of fact and
law. Id.a *3, 5. It held on apped that Heffernan’ sactions constituted a breach of hisfiduciary

3With the exception of the employee who had been previously terminated by the Clinic, since she was at the
same time drawing unemployment compensation stemming from her termination by the Clinic.
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duty to the corporation. Id. a *5. The appellate court noted the general rule that “ corporate
officers who engage in activities which constitute a breach of their duty of loyalty . . . are not
entitled to compensation for services performed during that time period even though part of their
services were properly performed.” 1d. Conseguently, it held that Heffernan was entitled to no
compensation for the two month period of time in which he was in breach of his duty to the
corporation. 1d.

In this case, Dr. Efird denies that he was either an officer or a director of the Clinic.
Consequently, his status in that regard appears to be a disputed fact. If it is determined that Dr.
Efird was an officer or director of the Clinic during the period of timein which hewasdirecting
patient fees and insurance payments to his separate accounts, his actions would constitute a
breach of hisfiduciary duties, and the Clinic would be entitled to appropriate damages.

The Clinic aso contends that Dr. Efird's diversion of funds was fraudulent. The trial
court noted that the other members of the Clinic knew of Dr. Efird's practice at the Clinic’'s
Collierville location, and that “they were benefidaries’ of the Collierville office. 1t found that

the money taken into this Collierville operation that was attended to exclusivey
by Dr. Efird, went to the overhead of that operation and it went, ultimately, to the
benefit of the [Clinic].

Now they may, based upon their employment formula, have to make
some adjustments in terms of accounting. But there's a world of difference
between that kind of accounting adjustment versusthesefactsrising to the level
of fraud, and rising to the level of deceit, and they do not.

As noted above, however, while the Clinic certainly knew that Dr. Efird was practicing at the
Clinic's Collierville satellite location, by all accounts the other members of the Clinic did not
know that Dr. Efird had made a definite decision to leave, and certainly did not know that funds
from patients and from insurance companies which should have gone to the Clinic were instead
being steered to Dr. Efird’s separate bank accounts. Clearly this crestes a factud issue as to
whether Dr. Efird’s actions were done with fraudulent intent. Indeed, it is rare for summary
judgment to be appropriate when considering an issue of fraud. K. C. Lam v. Allen, 2000 WL
705980, at *2 (Tenn. Ct. App. April 26, 2000) (citing Fowler v. Happy Goodman Family, 575
S.\W.2d 469, 499 (Tenn. 1978); Perryman v. Peterbilt of Knoxville, Inc., 708 SW.2d 403, 405
(Tenn. Ct. App. 1985)). Conseguently, we must concludethat thetria court’ sgrant of summary
judgment to Dr. Efird on thisissue was erroneous. Since afactua issue remains on thisclaim,
thetrial court correctly denied the Clinic’s motion for summary judgment on the issue of fraud.

We next turn to the issue of breach of Dr. Efird’s Employment Contract. The Clinic
contends that Dr. Efird’ s actions were a breach of the Contract, and that, conseguently, he was
terminated for cause. The Clinic maintainsthat if Dr. Efird wereterminated for cause, hewould
be entitled to no compensation beyond the date on which his employment was terminated. Dr.
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Efird initially aleged that the Clinic breached the Contract, and sought damagesfor the breach.
Later, however, Dr. Efird took the position that the parties did not follow the Contract, and so it
should be disregarded in its entirety. The trial court, after finding no fraud, deceit or breach of
fiduciary duty, concluded that thiswas“asimple breach of contract case” inwhich Dr. Efird left
the Clinic and the task at hand was to sort out the monies due each party upon dissolution of the
employment relationship. Consequently, the special master was instructed to determine the
monies due by applying the compensation formula utilized by the Clinic during Dr. Efird's
employment to al fees collected by the Clinic and by Dr. Efird, both before and after his
termination, for work attributable to Dr. Efird.

Dr. Efird contends generally that the parties “course of conduct” rendered the entire
Employment Contract unenforceable. Dr. Efird points to the undisputed fact that the Clinic
compensated all of the physicians, including Dr. Efird, by aformulawhich varied from that set
forthin the Contract. In addition, Dr. Efird notes that, as admitted by the Clinic, some of the
physicians received fees from teaching duties a the loca medicd school or from clinics
performed at local hospitals, and that the Clinic physiciansagreed that such feeswould not go to
the Clinic, but would be retained by the individual physicians.

In essence, Dr. Efird argues that, by disregarding two paragraphs of the Contract in
selected ingtances, the Clinicwaived not only these contractual provisionsbut theentire contract.
Thereis akey difference, however, which is extenuated by Dr. Efird. In the instances cited by
Dr. Efird againg the Clinic, there was a knowing waiver of the contractual provisions by all of
the affected parties; dl of the physicians understood the compensation formulato be used and
there was full disclosure to the Clinic of the fact that some members received outside
compensationfromteaching duties. Incontragt, Dr. Efird’ sactions, indirecting fundsto separae
accounts, altering health benefit forms and filling out payment forms with his new tax
identification number rather than that of the Clinic, were unbeknownst to the other members of
the Clinic. There can be no waiver of the Contract’ sterms as to Dr. Efird where there was no
knowledge of his conduct. Harlan v. Hardway, 796 SW.2d 953, 959 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1990).
Consequently, Dr. Efird cites no facts which establish awaiver of the Contract’ s requirements
in section 2(d) that herefran from engagingin medical practice outside the Contract, and that all
fees in connection with his medica practice be turned over the Clinic. Under these
circumstances, it is gpparent that Dr. Efird’s conduct constituted a breach of the Contract.*

As noted above, under section 4(f) of the Contract, “failure to adhere to the terms and
conditions of this Contract” is deemed “ cause’ for termination of employment. Thetria court
held that whether Dr. Efird wasterminated for causewas“insignificant.” Section 3(b)(i) of the
Contract satesthat if employment isterminated by mutual consent, upon notice, or for cause, Dr.
Efird would “be paid basic monthly salary until termination date.” In such instances, under

4The Clinic argues as well that Dr. Efird is judicially estopped from arguing that he is not bound by the
Employment Contract, because he asserted a claim against the Clinic for breach of contract in his amended Complaint.
This holding makes it unnecessary to address this argument in this appeal.
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section 4(f), the termination dateisthe date set forth in the written notice, here, March 25, 1998.
The plain terms of the Contract appear to provide that Dr. Efird would be entitled to no
compensation after his termination date, by virtue of accounts receivable not yet paid or
otherwise. However, included in the record is evidence regarding application of the Contract
provisionsin prior instancesin which aphysician’ semployment with the Clinic wasterminated,
and the course of dedling in these prior instances could reflect the parties' interpretation of the
provisions regarding compensation in the event of termination. Consequently, the case must be
remanded for the trial court’s interpretation of the Contract in light of this evidence®

The Clinic also argues on appedl that the findings of the specia master, adopted as
modified by thetrial court, should beoverturned. Inthiscase, the specid master’ sfindingswere
primarily limited to determining how much was collected for Dr. Efird’ swork as an employee
of the Clinic, where and when it was deposited, and the applicable overhead expenses. The
alocation of suchfeesto Dr. Efird was done pursuant to thetrial court’sruling on issues of law
relating to the contractual rel ationship of theparties. Assuch, the special master’ sdetermination
of the amount due Dr. Efird, adopted as modified by thetria court, involves mixed questions of
fact andlaw, not conclusiveon apped . SeeHeffernan, 1996 WL 512639at * 3, 5. Consequertly,
inlight of our holdings on apped regarding Dr. Efird’ s potentid liability to the Clinicfor breach
of the employee’sduty of loydty, breach of fiduciary duty of an officer or director, fraud and
breach of contract, the determination of the amountsdue Dr. Efird from the Clinicisreversed.®

The Clinic appealsfurther thetria court’ s alocation to the Clinic of the mgority of the
feesof the specia master, aswell asdiscretionary costs. Inlight of the aboveholdings thismust
also bereversed and remanded to thetrial court for reconsideration. Clearly Dr. Efird sactions
madethelitigation and the appointment of the specia master necessary. Thetrial court, however,
in making its allocation, also considered the parties’ conduct during the course of discovery.
Consequently, we remand thisissue for thetria court’ s reconsideration.

Dr. Efird raisestwo issueson appea. Hearguesfirst that thetria court erredin holding
that the Clinic was entitled to a credit of ten percent to offset its expenses in collecting the
accounts receivable attributable to Dr. Efird. Inlight of the holdings on apped set forth above,
thisissueis pretermitted.

Dr. Efird dso arguesthat thetrial court erred in declining to award sanctionsagaing the

5The holding regarding Dr. Efird’ s breach of hisfiduciary duty of loyalty asan employee and any breach of his
fiduciary duties as an officer or director, and the damages flowing from such breach may make interpretation of these

contractual provisions unnecessary.

6Thisincl udesthe special maser’ sallocation to the Clinic of “overhead expenses’ paid by Dr. Efird out of funds
diverted to his separate accounts, such as additional advertising expenses and the compensation paid by Dr. Efird to an
employee who had previously been discharged by the Clinic. The Clinic raises further issues on appeal regarding
differencesbetween the calculationsin the special master’sdraft report dated January 15, 2002, and hisfinal report dated

February 25, 2002. Our holdings on appeal makeit unnecessary to address this issue.
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Clinic for maintaining that Dr. Efird’s Employment Contract was enforceable. In light of our
holding set forth above on the enforceahility of the Contract, we hold this issue to be without
merit.

Insum, thetria court’ sgrant of summary judgment infavor of Dr. Efirdisreversed. The
trid court’ sdenia of the Clinic’'s motion for summary judgment isreversed in part and affirmed
in part. The Clinic’s motion for summary judgment is granted as to the issue of Dr. Efird's
liability on the claim that Dr. Efird breached his duty of loyalty as an employee, and the causeis
remanded for a determination of damagesto the Clinic for Dr. Efird’sbreach. Thetria court’s
denia of the Clinic’s motion for summary judgment on the claim that Dr. Efird breached his
fiduciary duty asan officer or director of the Clinicisaffirmed in that agenuineissue of material
fact exists asto whether Dr. Efird was an officer or director of the Clinic. If it isdetermined on
remand that Dr. Efird wasan officer or director, then the Clinicisentitled to afavorablejudgment
asto liability for this claim, and damagesto the Clinic for this breach must be determined. The
trid court’ s finding of no fraud isreversed. Thetria court’s denid of the Clinic’'s motion for
summary judgment on its claim of fraud by Dr. Efird is affirmed, since a genuine issue of fact
exists asto Dr. Efird’ s fraudulent intent.

OntheClinic’sclaimsof breach of contract, thetria court’ sdenia of the Clinic’ smotion
for summary judgment is reversed, and summary judgment is granted to the Clinic on the issue
of Dr. Efird’ sbreach of the Contract and histermination for cause. Insofar as a determination of
damagesisnecessary, the causeisremanded for such adetermination. Thefindingsof thespecial
master, adopted as modified by the trial court and awarding certain sums to Dr. Efird, are
reversed and vacated on appeal. The assessment of the fees of the specid master and
discretionary costs is reversed and remanded for reconsideration in light of this Opinion. The
issue raised by Dr. Efird on appedl regarding the assessment of ten percent collection costsis
pretermitted by the holdings in this Opinion. Thetria court’s decision not to award sanctions
againg the Clinicfor continuing to maintain that the Employment Contract was applicableto Dr.
Efird isaffirmed. All other issues raised on appeal are pretermitted.

The decision of thetria court isreversed in part and affirmed in part as set forth above,
and the causeis remanded for further proceedings not inconsistent with thisOpinion. Costson
appedl are assessed againg Appellee Walter F. Efird, 111, M.D., for which execution may issue
if necessary.

HOLLY M. KIRBY, JUDGE
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